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PREFACE.





"SINCE our National

Centennial," says a literary paragrapher in Harper's Magazine of last May,

"especial attention has been given by many writers in different parts of

the country to the development of local history." A glance through the

catalogues of our principal libraries will confirm this statement. The

importance of our knowledge of history coming nearer home has just dawned upon

the mind of the American people. The reason is, perhaps, the public realization

of the fact that the historical period in the life of our large cities — the

period of settlement and pioneer development—is past, and that the most

favorable time for recording the events in a permanent form has arrived.




In bringing out the History of

the City of Cleveland, the publishers hope that an important contribution to

the literature of Northern Ohio has been made. In endeavoring to profit by the

experiences of the publishers of the histories of other cities, it was deemed

most judicious to produce a book that could be sold at a price considerably

less than that of the average local work of this kind.




Voluminous and elaborate local

histories, with their proportionately high cost, have not proved commercial

successes. So large is the amount that one must read in these days to keep up with

the times, that the majority of people find it necessary to select condensed

treatments of subjects. They desire to become familiar with the general facts,

but prefer not to go deeply into details. In carrying out the plan of this

work, prolix statement of facts, long comments, expanded theories and tedious

discussions have been avoided, and a clear, concise and direct style employed,

though the work is in no sense superficial. Many occurrences of interest at the

time they transpired, but comparatively of no significance or importance in the

history of the city, have been omitted. This book is a history of the city of

Cleveland. It begins with the organization of the Connecticut Land Company and

ends with the present year. The history of the Indian tribes which inhabited

this region is not a part of the subject, and will be found in the works of

historians of the aboriginal American races and of early missionary movements.




With these prefatory remarks the

book is submitted to the public scrutiny, hoping that it will meet with popular

favor.




Respectfully, 




THE PUBLISHERS.




Cleveland, O., 




Dec. 5, 1887.


















 




CHAPTER I.




"CLEFFLANDS" was,

according to trustworthy authority, the name applied by the inhabitants of

Yorkshire, England, about the tenth century, to a picturesque and cliffy

district within their borders, whose rocks abounded in characteristic apertures

or rivers, called in the Saxon nomenclature "Cleves." The dwellers in

this section were denominated "Cleavelanders," particularly the most

powerful family; and this name, originally assigned as a matter of convenience,

has since adhered to the house.




This manner of accounting for the

origin of a name now familiar throughout the world as belonging to a large and

important city of Northern Ohio is quite satisfactory.




But whatever may have been its

derivation, Moses Cleaveland was the name of a hardy Puritan who landed at

Boston in 1635, and who was the progenitor of General Moses Cleaveland—the

Moses who had the faith, courage and executive ability to lead the first colony

into the wilds of the Western Reserve, and found a great city which will ever

be a grand and growing monument to perpetuate his memory. In the year 1829, one

John Kilbourn, of Columbus, published a book, the purpose of which, as stated

in the preface, was "to answer frequent inquiries made in the Atlantic

States concerning this State, respecting its extent, soil, climate,

navigableness of its rivers, relative fertility, population," etc. This

publication, after a careful balancing of prospects and situations, predicts

with no small confidence that among the towns of the rising State,

"Cleveland, the seat of justice of Cuyahoga County, will in time become

one of the most important." The basis for this prediction will appear in

the following enumeration: On the thirteenth ultimo the village (of Cleveland)

contained one hundred and sixty-eight dwelling-houses, thirteen mercantile

stores, fifteen warehouses, four drug stores, one book and stationery store,

nine groceries, six taverns, and about one thousand inhabitants.




Such was the city of Cleveland a

third of a century after its first settlement, and nearly fifteen years from

its incorporation as a village—a modest showing for a Western town which had

been strategically located, and started upon its career under the most

favorable auspices and with the highest hopes.




The truth is that the history of

the Cleveland of our day —the metropolis of Northern Ohio, and the center of

vast and varied industries—had scarcely begun when Mr. Kilbourn put forth this

modest description. The conditions brought in by the harbor improvements of

1828, and the subsequent opening of the Ohio canal, introduced a new period, in

which nearly all the great interests of our day had their inception and

development. We shall, therefore, in this chapter trace somewhat briefly the

events of the earlier years, indicating the main lines of development, and

noting the events of chiefest interest.




The Western Reserve of Ohio

derives its name from the circumstance that the State of Connecticut, at the

general settlement of land-claims in 1786, reserved this section as State

property. Connecticut had maintained large but somewhat ill-defined claims to

lands situated in the Northwestern territory, deriving her title from a grant

issued by Charles II. in 1662. The Puritan State certainly fared well in a

settlement by which she acquired undisputed possession of nearly four million

acres of fertile land, in exchange for an altogether vague and incomprehensible

title deed, issued a century earlier by an authority which had since been

superseded.




In 1792 Connecticut set apart

five hundred thousand acres of the Reserve, afterward known as the Fire-lands,

for the benefit of those among her citizens who had suffered by fire during the

Revolution; and three years later (1795) a commission was formed to effect the

sale of the remaining part. Forty-five wealthy citizens of the State,

collectively known as the Connecticut Land company, purchased this remainder,

subscribing therefor twelve hundred thousand dollars; the individual members

receiving quit-claim deeds for fractional parts of the entire territory,

corresponding to their share in the aggregate subscription. Preparation was

immediately made by the company for the survey of its newly acquired property.

General Moses Cleaveland, one of the share-holders, was chosen to superintend

the work, receiving the following commission on the twelfth of May, 1796: 




To Moses Cleaveland, Esq., of the

county of Windham, and State of Connecticut, one of the directors of the

Connecticut Land Company, Greeting: We, the board of directors of said company,

having appointed you to go on to said land as superintendent over the agents

and men sent to survey and make locations on said land, and to enter into

friendly negotiations with the natives who are on said land or contiguous

thereto and may have any pretended claim to the same, and secure such friendly

intercourse amongst them as will establish peace, quiet and safety to the

survey and settlement of said lands not ceded by the natives under the

authority of the United States.




You are hereby, for the foregoing

purposes, fully authorized to act and transact the above business in as full a

manner as we ourselves could do.




. . . And all agents and men by

us employed to survey and settle said lands to be obedient to your orders and

directions; and you are to be accountable for all moneys by you received,

conforming your conduct to such orders and directions as we may from time to

time give you, and to do and act in all matters according to your best skill

and judgment, which may tend to the best interest, etc., of said Connecticut

Land company. ....




Oliver Phelps, Henry Champion.




Roger Newbury, Samuel Mather, Jr.




Directors.




The first surveying party to the

Western Reserve arrived at the mouth of the Cuyahoga river in July, 1796. Here

a cabin was built for the reception of stores, which were assigned to the

charge of Mr. Job P. Stiles and his wife, Tabitha—theirs being the first home

of Cleveland. It was only after the preliminary survey into townships had been

completed that the mouth of the Cuyahoga river was chosen as the site for a

future great city, receiving the name of Cleaveland, in honor of the

superintendent. The remaining work of the survey, the division of the new city

into streets and lots, was soon completed, and the party made ready for their

return.


















 




CHAPTER II.




 




WHEN, in the month of December,

1796, the survey ors of the Connecticut Land company returned to their homes in

the east they left behind them, at the mouth of the Cuyahoga river, an ideal

city, with its public square of ample proportions, its avenues and streets

extending through the forest, and its numbered lots for private purchase.

General Moses Cleaveland had selected the site with due deliberation. Nature

had evidently purposed that at this spot should grow up the industrial and

commercial center of the vast region to the south and west, which must soon be

opened to immigration. The future of the embryo city was assured, and those who

were to share in it must pay for their privilege.




Accordingly, after certain lots

bordering upon the public square had been reserved for public uses, the

remainder— each lot containing two acres—were put up for sale, the condition of

immediate settlement being imposed. The price of these city lots was set at

fifty dollars. Other sections of ten, twenty and one hundred acres,

respectively, were offered for three dollars, two dollars and a dollar and a

half per acre, according to the distance from the city limits. These prices may

seem somewhat exorbitant for the virgin soil of a wilderness. They certainly

show that the members of the Connecticut Land company were fully alive to the

expanding promise of the fast-opening west.




If their reckoning did not

include the immediate conditions of hardship and struggle, of arduous labor and

small returns, it was chiefly owing to the very amplitude and penetration of

their view, which grasped the result without foreseeing the process.




Six town lots were at once

disposed of, the names of the purchasers being indicated on the surveyor's map.

These men must not be commended—or reproached—for too much speculative

hardihood. They took lots from the company as compensation for their

services—and very poor compensation they doubtless regarded them. The contract

which preceded the town survey and subsequent assignment of lots had grown out

of a dispute the year previous between the employees and the officers of the

company. Through all the multiplied difficulties and dangers of frontier life the

men had held steadily to their appointed tasks of exploration and settlement.

Rations were scarce and came in slowly. The clothing provided for them was

ill-suited to the rough usage of forest life, and soon left their naked sides

exposed to the fierce attacks of ravenous mosquitoes that roseinswarms from the

adjoining swamps. The discontent became so great that some definite settlement

seemed imperative; and as soon as the surveys could be completed of the region

adjacent to the mouth of the Cuyahoga, an apportionment was made of various

lands, partly by way of compensation for service rendered, partly with a view

to securing a nucleus for future settlement—but always upon condition of actual

occupancy. The town lots above alluded to, as the sequel showed, except for

their prospective value, were much less desirable than those more remote from

the mouth of the river.




During the winter of 1796-7, the

surveyors having returned to the east, there were but three white persons in

the city. These were Mr. and Mrs. Stiles, for whom a cabin had been built on

their town lot, and Edward Paine, subsequently the founder of Painesville,

Ohio. It would be interesting to read the records of this winter's history —for

history there doubtless was, and that of a very serious sort to those

immediately concerned. The records, however, are very meagre. Paine traded with

the Indians, and maintained the best of understanding between the infant

settlement and the neighboring tribes. But the time passed drearily enough in

the secluded cabin, and the opening spring, we may well imagine, was not

unwelcome, bringing with it a new settler and later on a fresh surveying party

from the east.




James Kingsbury and wife,

journeying through the melting snows from Conneaut, arrived at Cleveland in 17

April, 1797, though they did not finally settle in their new cabin on the

present site of the Case block till the June following. The surveyors arrived

in June, bearing with them the body of one of their number who had been drowned

while crossing the Grand river. Rev. Seth Hart, agent of the company and

superintendent for this year, conducted the funeral services, the first ever

held in Cleveland. At this time the site was chosen for a burial ground upon

the east side of Ontario street and north of its present junction with

Prospect.




This same month is further

noticeable as marking the arrival in Cleveland of one of the most celebrated

characters in pioneer history. Major Lorenzo Carter came with his family from

Rutland, Vermont. He was a man of splendid physique, and of an aggressive and

energetic temperament—the essential qualities of a leader in pioneer life. From

his first arrival the major's influence was well-nigh supreme over the

neighboring Indian tribes. The early traditions of the Western Reserve abound

in incidents of his prowess and skill. On one occasion a dusky prowler was

followed to an encampment in the woods, where the major discovered the

fugitive, and was only prevented from hanging him by the solemn promise of his

comrades that he should never after be allowed to visit the settlement. The

red-skins firmly believed that the redoubtable woodsman was invulnerable to the

ordinary weapons of savage warfare, and that to seek his destruction would be

but a tempting of fate. Certain it is that the unconquerable energy of this

brave man, however uncouth at times were its manifestations, was a factor of

incalculable value in the troublous days of Cleveland's early history.




At this time the surveys were by

no means complete. The work hitherto had been chiefly in the way of

exploration; the courses of rivers had been traced, and township limits marked

out with more or less precision. During the summer of 1797, surveys in the

immediate neighborhood of the city were carried on vigorously, with the result

that by the end of August the "Central," "North" and

"South" highways, now known respectively as Euclid avenue, St. Clair

street and Woodland avenue had been accurately determined. In January of the

following year (1798) the stockholders of the Connecticut Land company

assembled at Hartford, where apportionments were made to individual members;

Cleveland, with five other townships, being reserved by the company for sale.




In the summer of 1798 the little

settlement had its first serious experience of an enemy, whose attacks were

destined to work more mischief than all other evil influences combined. The

malaria that rose from the swamps adjoining the mouth of the river had long

been the dread of surveying parties. This year it was peculiarly virulent.




Every member of the three or four

families that were settled in the city proper had periodic attacks of the fever

and ague. Without proper remedies, and with insufficient supply of vegetable

food, no relief could be found till, late in autumn, the swamps were hardened

by the frost. The following spring Nathaniel Doan, the blacksmith, and Mr.

Hawley, a late arrival from the east, removed with their families to the more

healthful region of the ridge near Newburgh, whither they had been preceded by

Mr. James Kingsbury. Their removal reduced the population of Cleveland to two

families—those of Carter and Spafford. The major and the ex-surveyor kept

tavern, dickered with the Indians, and cultivated the soil of their city lots.

Except for their hardy constitutions and untiring energy, the settlement would

have been abandoned and the beginning of Cleveland's history indefinitely

postponed. From this time dates the friendly rivalry between Cleveland and

Newburgh, of which mention will be made later on.




The final year of the century was

marked by an event of no small importance—the opening of a grist-mill at

Newburgh, the first ever built on the Western Reserve. This event was made the

occasion of a grand merry-making, in which the scattered settlers for miles

around participated.




The next year a saw-mill was

erected near the same spot. Both mills were the work of Mr. Wheeler W. Williams

and Major Wyatt, who had lately arrived from Connecticut.


















 




CHAPTER III.




FOLLOWING upon the settlement of

conflicting claimson the part of the State of Connecticut and the United States

government, Governor St. Clair had issued an ordinance establishing the County

of Trumbull, which was to include the entire Western Reserve. At this time the

appointment of township officers was virtually a function of the executive, the

appointments being made by the Court of Quarter Sessions, the members of which

were nominated by the governor. James Kingsbury had been named a justice of the

Quorum, thereby becoming a justice of the Court of Quarter Sessions. Amos

Spafford of Cleveland was at the same time made a justice of the peace.




Cleveland was then an immense

territory, embracing the townships of Chester, Russell and Bainbridge, that

portion of Cuyahoga county now lying east of the river, and the unoccupied

Indian country extending to the west line of the Reserve. At the first meeting

of the court at Warren, in August, 1800, the township divisions having been

determined, an appointment of constables was made for each township, those for

Cleveland being Lorenzo Carter and Stephen Gilbert. The constabulary thus

chosen formed the first civil list of the Western Reserve. In Cleveland, at

least, the position could scarcely have been regarded as a sinecure, the major

and his associates having charge of a territory some two thousand three hundred

square miles in extent. As, however, the larger portion of this huge township

was still in possession of the Indians, it may be assumed that the actual

duties of the office were not so arduous as might at first appear.




The city at the mouth of the

river, though its area of cleared land was extended year by year, increased but

slowly in numbers. The rival settlement on the ridge— Newburgh, as it came to

be called—had the great advantage of a healthful location; and this was

sufficient till the period of canals and opening traffic with the west, to

secure it an equal if not a dominant influence. Such arrivals as there were,

however, were accommodated at the taverns of Major Carter and Amos Spafford,

who soon after obtained regular hotel licenses from the Court of Quarter

Sessions.




Among other noteworthy incidents

of these years should be mentioned the arrival of David and Gilman Bryant from

Virginia, bringing with them a still, which they at once established and began

to operate at the foot of Superior street. The settlers were thus enabled to

convert their grain into a product better suited to the slow and difficult

transportation of those days. We are assured, furthermore, that the presence of

a distillery on the river bank did much to facilitate trade with the

neighboring red-skins.




The public conscience of the time

was not, seemingly, so sensitive as at present to the evils of intemperance;

perhaps, among other reasons, from the fact that intemperance among those hardy

and laborious pioneers seldom reached the verge of debauchery.




The year 1801 saw the arrival of

a man who was destined to attain the highest honors of the State. Samuel

Huntington, of aristocratic New England connections, came to Cleveland with the

expectation of building up a lucrative law practice in what he supposed was

soon to become a thriving western town. Fortunately for him, the disappointment

of this hope did not deter him from other lines of advancement. He was

successively made an appraiser of houses, a lieutenant in the county militia,

and, in January, 1802, a justice of Quorum. He afterward entered politics and

represented Trumbull county in the Ohio State Senate. In 1803 he was made a

judge of the Supreme Court, his commission being the first issued under the

authority of the State. Subsequently, Mr. Huntington served an honored term as

governor of Ohio.




In 1802 Governor St. Clair had

been compelled to yield a point in favor of local self-government, and had

granted to townships the privilege of choosing their own officials.




The result of the first town

meeting, held at the residence of Judge Kingsbury, will appear from the

following report of the clerk, Mr. Nathaniel Doan:




Chairman, Rudolph us Edwards;

trustees, Amos Spafford, Timothy Doan, Wm. W. Williams; appraisers of houses,

Samuel Hamilton, Elijah Gun; lister. Ebenezer Ayrs; supervisors of highway,

Samuel Huntington, Nathaniel Doan, Samuel Hamilton; fence viewers, Lorenzo

Carter, Nathan Chapman: constables, Ezekiel Hawley, Richard Craw.




These official dignities seem not

to have been very seductive; for, during the years immediately following, we

repeatedly find prominent citizens "utterly refusing" to take upon

themselves the functions that had been assigned them, preferring to pay the

penalty stipulated for failure to serve.




In 1804 Trumbull county was

erected into a militia district. A meeting of members of the Fourth Company

district (that of Cleveland) was held at the house of James Kingsbury, at which

the following officers were elected; captain, Lorenzo Carter; lieutenant,

Nathaniel Doan; ensign, Samuel Jones. It appears that the aggressive Carter

had, as usual, aroused the enmity of certain of his associates, for a

remonstrance was drawn up and signed by eight citizens, praying that the election

might be set aside. Nothing was done, however, and the difficulty seems to have

been composed.




In 1805 treaties were signed at

Cleveland with the chiefs of those Indian tribes that held unsettled claims to

that portion of the Reserve lying west of the Cuyahoga river. This territory

was surveyed and divided into townships.




The same year, it should be

added, the Cleveland post-office was established, with Elisha Morton as

postmaster.




There is but little to chronicle

of the period intervening before the war. As before, there was an abundance of

toil, seasoned by rude sport and adventure—ordinary incidents of frontier life.

Among the few arrivals of this time should be mentioned Dr. David Long, and

Alfred Kelly, Esq., a young lawyer, both of whom came in 1810. Mr. Kelly

enjoyed the distinction of being the first practicing lawyer of Cleveland.




The dull routine was roughly

broken by the outbreak of war in 1812. In August General Hull surrendered at

Detroit. The news was received at Cleveland with terror and confusion. It was

expected that the British and their savage allies would soon appear before the

defenseless town. Many families abandoned their homes and started eastward,

with no definite purpose in view save to put as great distance as possible

between themselves and the scene of danger. Those who remained, recruited by

occasional arrivals from the adjoining country, formed themselves into a

quasi-brigade, numbering about fifty men.




On the night of August 17, the

sentinels posted along the water front reported an approaching vessel, which,

it was soon learned, bore the paroled soldiers of the army that General Hull

had so ignobly surrendered the day before. A company of militia was soon

afterward formed in Cleveland and vicinity. Following is the company roll:

Captain, Harvey Murray; lieutenant, Lewis Dille; ensign, Alfred Kelly;

sergeants, Ebenezer Green, Simeon Moss, Thomas Hamilton, Seth Doan; corporals,

James Root, John Lauterman, Asa Dille, Martin G. Shelhouse, drummer, David S.

Tyler; fifer, Rodolphus Carleton; privates, Aretus Burk. Allen Burk, Charles

Brandon, John Bishop, Moses Bradley, Silas Burk, Sylvester Beacher, James S.

Bills, John Carlton, Mason Clark, Anthony Doyle, Luther Dille, Samuel Dille,

Samuel Dodge, Moses Eldred Samuel Evarts, Ebenezer Fish, Zcbulon R. S. Freeman,

Robert Harberson, Daniel S. Judd, Jackson James, John James, Stephen King, Guy

Lee, Jacob Mingus, William McConkey, Thomas McIlrath, Samuel Noyes, David Reed,

John Sweeney, Parker Shadrick, Luther Sterns. Bazaleel Thorp, John Taylor,

Thomas Thomas, Hartman Van Duzen, Joseph Williams, Matthew Williamson, John

Wrightman, William White, Joseph Burk, Robert Prentis, Benjamin Ogden.




It were needless to trace in

detail the events of this troubled period up to the time of Perry's splendid

victory, September 10, 1813. The region never ceased to resound with the din of

warlike preparation. The militia was organized, stockades were erected, and

companies formed for the general defense. When peace came it brought with it a

more propitious outlook for the future of the Western Reserve. Immigration

began to get in, and although the struggling village was destined still for

much discouragement and hardship, yet the foundation of its future greatness

was being laid in the increasing prosperity of the region about her.


















 




CHAPTER IV.




ON December 23, 1814, the General

Assembly of the State of Ohio passed an act "to incorporate the village of

Cleveland, in the County of Cuyahoga." According to a provision of this

act, the first village election occurred on the first Monday of June, 1815. The

election resulted in the choice of the following officers:—President, Alfred

Kelly; recorder, Horace Perry; treasurer, Alonzo Carter; trustees, Samuel

Williamson, David Long, Nathan Perry, jr.; marshal, John A. Ackley; assessors,

George Wallace, John Riddle.




At this time the business and

residence portion of the town was confined to Water street and that portion of

Superior street lying between the river and the public square. The following

year, at the petition of numerous citizens, the board of trustees ordered that

"the said several streets, in said petition mentioned and described,

should be severally known by the following names, to-wit: the first, St. Clair;

the second, Bank; the third, Seneca; the fourth, Wood; the fifth, Bond; the

sixth, Euclid; the seventh, Diamond." Now, as before, the action was with

a view to prospective needs, the population at that time not much exceeding one

hundred persons.




The public buildings of the

period were few and unpretentious. In 1809, after the formation of Cuyahoga

county, Cleveland had been chosen as the county-seat, in preference to

Newburgh, a rival of no mean pretensions.




It was not, however, till 1813,

during the tumult and alarm of war, that the first court-house was built, near

the spot occupied by the present structure. In 1816 various sums of money had

been subscribed by individuals for the building of a school-house. On the

thirteenth of January, 1817, the trustees of the village met and enacted that

all such funds should be returned to the several subscribers, and that the

corporation should be the sole proprietors of said school-house. The building

was erected the same year, on the present site of the Kennard House. This

school, it should be remembered, was not free. The town furnished the building,

but the terms for tuition were in each case arranged with the teachers. In this

old school-house preaching was had whenever the services of a minister could be

secured. It was not until 1820 that a pastor, Rev. Randolph Stone of Ashtabula

county, was engaged to preach regularly every other Sunday. The year 1817 is

further noteworthy as marking the first permanent settlement of Brooklyn,

afterwards known as Ohio City.




On the thirty-first of July,

1818, appeared the first issue of the Cleveland Gazette and Commercial

Register—the beginning of Cleveland journalism. It was a fitful publication,

appearing at intervals of from one to three weeks, according to the chance

supply of news and paper. In October of the following year the Herald was

started.




Through various vicissitudes it

has survived to our day, now appearing, united nominally with its Republican

contemporary, the Cleveland Leader. Following upon these newspaper enterprises,

and perhaps suggested by them, was the building of the old Academy in 1821.

This was a work of private enterprise, erected at the expense of individual

citizens. It bears sufficient testimony to the intelligence and enterprise of a

community which did not yet number four hundred inhabitants.




The corporate legislation of the

years following 1815 is very suggestive of the prevailing conditions in a new

and struggling community. In 1816 a tax of one-half percent. was levied on all

lots in the township. In June, 1818, an ordinance was passed forbidding any

persons to discharge a gun or pistol within the village, the penalty being a

fine not to exceed five dollars. Animals were not allowed to run at large in

the street; butchering was prohibited within corporation limits, except by

special permit; horse racing and fast driving were forbidden. In 1825 a tax of

one-fourth per cent. was levied, and in 1828 another of two mills per dollar.

These various assessments were the occasion of no small out cry on the part of

tax-payers.




At this early time Cleveland was

not without embarrassments arising from the want of a trustworthy medium of

exchange. Early in 1818 the difficulty had become so serious that a meeting of

citizens was called, and the following measure carried: Cleveland, January 24,

1818.




We, the subscribers, inhabitants

of the village of Cleveland, considering the great and general evil arising

from the multiplicity of small bills in circulation, do hereby pledge ourselves

that from and after the first day of April next we will not receive in payment

any private bills of any description whatever, nor any other bills, for which

current money cannot be demanded and received on demand. (Signed.by)




J. R. and I. Kelley, Daniel

Kelley, Thomas Rumage, S. S. Dudley, George Wallace, Donald Mclntoshe, Noble H.

Merwin, Leonard Case, Wm. Bliss, S. Nechley, Jonathan Johnson, Samuel L.

Williamson, Cullcn Richmond, David Long, Cyrus Prentiss, Phineas Sheapard,

Luther Chapin, Levi Johnson, Win. Garfortl, George Perkham, George Pease, James

Hyndman, George G. Hills, Horace Perry, Nathan Perry, Henry Mowney, David

Jones, Amasa Bailey.




In 1829 the population of

Cleveland had reached the number of nearly one thousand. Building had for some

time been going on quite briskly, and numerous frame structures, of some

pretentions for those days, were taking the place of earlier log cabins. We

accordingly find in this year an appropriation of two hundred and eighty-five

dollars for a fire engine. This event marks the beginning of the Cleveland fire

department.




The year 1826 brought to a close

the rivalry that had long existed between Cleveland and Newburg. The old

court-house, which had been completed to the music of Perry's guns, having

become unequal to the needs of the growing community, it was determined to

erect a new building. This decision was a signal for renewing the old contest

as to the location of the county-seat. Newburg had begun to fall behind in

point of numbers, but she was still a formidable rival, possessing sufficient

influence and support to make the fight a very close one. The question came

before the people in the form of an election to fill a vacancy in the board of

county commissioners. The decision in favor of Cleveland was reached only by a

small majority.




We come now to the consideration

of what may properly be called the elemental factors in the industrial

development of Cleveland—the Ohio canal and the harbor improvements of 1825 and

the years following. An act providing for the construction of a canal to

connect the Ohio river and Lake Erie passed the legislature February 24, 1825.

Two routes were available; one by way of Wooster and down the valley of the

Black river, the other through the Cuyahoga valley to Cleveland. The decision between

these two routes rested with a board of canal commissioners, among whom was

Alfred Kelly, Esq., of Cleveland.




It was largely due to his

enthusiasm and public spirit that the choice was made in favor of the Cuyahoga

route.




While the work was in progress

Mr. Kelly was acting commissioner, having full administrative control. It is to

his credit that the entire cost did not exceed the original estimates—a

circumstance unparalleled in the history of like enterprises. July 4, 1827, the

canal was opened from Cleveland to Akron, and the occasion was celebrated with

great enthusiasm. Just five years later the great water way was completed from

Lake Erie to the Ohio river, and the vast and fertile regions of Central Ohio

were for the first time laid open to commerce. The most sanguine predictions of

an earlier day now proved to have been well founded. Among the receipts of the

canal in 1834, two years from its opening, appear the following items: Upwards

of five hundred thousand bushels of wheat, one hundred thousand barrels of

flour, one million pounds of butter, seventy thousand pounds of cheese, and

other products in like proportion.




Previous to 1825 one of the most

serious disadvantages which retarded the growth of Cleveland was the lack of

adequate harbor facilities. From the first settlement of the place every

business activity had been inaugurated and carried on with constant view to the

belief that the port of Cleveland was to become the chief mercantile emporium

of Northern Ohio. And such it was evidently destined to become. But a harbor of

trustworthy depth and bottom was an essential factor in the prospect; and such

a harbor Cleveland at this time did not possess. In the session of 1824-25, the

matter having been brought to the attention of Congress, an appropriation of

five thousand dollars was secured, the expenditure of which was entrusted to

Mr. Ashbel Walworth, customs collector of the northern district. No accurate

survey had been attempted, and the whole matter was left to the good judgment

of Mr. Walworth and his advisers. The aim was to secure a, clear channel by

preventing further encroachment of sand drift which, during a greater part of

the year, obstructed the mouth of the river. It was therefore determined to

extend a pier a sufficient distance into the lake, from the east shore of the

river, to counteract the action of the prevailing northeast winds. Such a pier

was constructed, absorbing the entire amount of the government grant; but,

strange to say, it proved utterly unequal to the task proposed. The drift was

as persistent as ever, and the channel remained precarious or impassable.




In October of the same year a

meeting was called, which included all the business men of the place, and a

sufficient sum was raised to send Mr. Walworth to Washington, with a view to

securing another and a larger appropriation. The result was a second grant,

this time of ten thousand dollars, and the deputation of Major T. W.




Maurice, of the United States

engineer corps, for the work of harbor survey. The plan now adopted was to

change the channel of the river, making it pass eastward of the Walworth pier.

A second pier was to be built for the protection of the east bank of the new

channel, which would run between the two structures. The work of Major Maurice,

with the extension afterwards made, proved entirely successful, and a good

harbor was at last secured. The government soon supplemented its work by the

erection (in 1830) of a light-house at the north end of Water street,

appropriating therefor eight thousand dollars.




In 1825 the population of

Cleveland was about five hundred. Ten years later, through the action of causes

above traced, it numbered as many thousand. The village of Brooklyn had shared

in this prosperity and had attained a population of nearly two thousand. The

communities on both sides of the river were in the first flush of a real estate

boom. In Cleveland the section now known as the Hats was purchased in 1836 by

Mr. John W. Willey and Mr. James S. Clark. They proposed to make this

immediately a prominent business and residence section. They accordingly

divided their land into lots which they offered for sale at immoderately high

prices, investing the money thus secured in building and improvements. With a

view to diverting a portion of the trade to their part of the town these

enterprising gentlemen built a bridge to the West Side from the foot of

Columbus street, which laudable undertaking led, a year or two later, to the

celebrated "Battle of the bridge."




Across the river in Brooklyn the

spirit of speculation ran a parallel course. About the time of the Willey and

Clark enterprise an association of capitalists, known as the Buffalo company,

bought up an extensive tract near the river, with the expectation of re-selling

within a few months at an enormous profit.




From our point of view it would

seem that the interests of these communities were substantially identical—that

their growth and prosperity would proceed in common. To be sure the canal was

on the east side; but inasmuch as it could not very well be on both sides, it

was certainly far better to have it where it was than in any quarter more

remote. Considerations of this sort were not lacking, and they were doubtless

presented with sufficient force.




When it was proposed to obtain

city charters from the legislature, discerning men on both sides urged the

expediency of uniting the two villages under a single city government. But the

rivalry was far too bitter and nothing was accomplished in this direction.

United, or disunited, however, a city charter was clearly desirable for both

communities. The first Cleveland directory, published in 1887, thus quaintly

puts it: Sundry things were done; sundry hills and streets were graded, to the

great satisfaction of some and dissatisfaction of others. Some six or eight thousand

of inhabitants had come together from the four winds; some wished to do more

things and some wished to do things better; and to effect all these objects,

and a variety of others, no means seemed so proper as a city charter in due

form and style.




City charters in due form and

style were accordingly secured—one for Cleveland and one for Ohio City; the

latter place, by some hook or crook, getting the precedence in point of time.


















 




CHAPTER V.




THE charter of the city of

Cleveland was obtained March 5, 1836; that of Ohio City two days earlier. The

population of Cleveland was then nearly six thousand, while Ohio City had about

one-third that number. Notwithstanding the great strides that had been made in

the year immediately preceding, the two cities and the country adjacent bore

all the marks and signs of a frontier situation. Everything was new, although

to be sure, everything was aggressive and enterprising. Log houses had not

entirely disappeared, but frame structures were plentiful. Brick buildings were

scarce. Euclid street had, however, begun its career of splendor with a

dwelling house of that material near the present site of the Union Club. The

avenues that now stretch out in splendid vistas of lawn and mansion were then

unbroken forest land, the haunt of wild animals. Indeed, for some years

afterward the deer and the bear were frequently caught within what are now city

limits.




At this time, of course, the

business of the place was confined to shipping and exchange. It had been the

depot of sale and supply for the sparse agricultural population of the

neighboring country. Henceforth it was to perform a like function for the vast

and fertile region stretching for hundreds of miles to the south, east and

west. The change that was beginning to work was the change from a provincial

town to a metropolis.




It is a remarkable fact that

young communities, in the first flush of their vigorous development, have a

wonderful faculty for turning out versatile and able men. Whether the men come

of their own accord, or whether the environment makes them, we need not stop to

enquire; the important fact is that they are on the ground. Cleveland, in her

early days, was no exception to the rule. A gentleman, now living in the east,

who was familiar with the place at this time, has given, in a letter published

some years since in the Leader, an interesting account of the sociable and

wide-awake Cleveland of early city charter days. There was small wealth and

less formality, but there was an abundance of self-respect and invigorating

converse. The Cleveland bar at that time numbered some of the ablest men oi its

entire history. Among them were Reuben Wood, John W. Allen, S. J. Andrews,

Samuel Starkweather, Samuel Cowles, Leonard Case, Sr., John W. Willey and John

M. Sterling. It must not be supposed that these men and their contemporaries

were confined in their activities to the special labor of a single profession

or pursuit. They were all things to all men—or rather to all emergencies—if by

any means they might accomplish something in the public behoof.
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In accordance with a provision of

the act incorporating the city of Cleveland, the first municipal election was

held April 15, 1836, resulting in the choice of the following officers: John W.

Willey, mayor; Richard Hilliard, Nicholas Dockstader, Joshua Mills, aldermen;

Morris Hepburn, John R. St. John, William V. Craw, Sherlock J. Andrews, Henry

L. Noble, Edward Baldwin. Aaron Strickland, Horace Canfield and Archibald M. T.

Smith, councilmen.




Probably at no period in its

history have the residents of Cleveland been so sanguine of immediate and

unbounded prosperity as at the time of the city charter. The press abounded in

glowing predictions—and the press hardly voiced the hopes of its patrons. Every

man had the prospect of opulence in the advancing tide of immigration from the

east, and he saw the measure of his coming greatness in the quantity of land

which could be held in anticipation of enormous prices that must soon prevail.

Indeed, the outlook was sufficiently cheering for any reasonable ambition. A

great public work had been successfully carried through and the interior of a

great State opened to commerce. Moreover, this commerce was already a

reality—something that could be seen and handled any day along the wharves and

in the warehouses at the mouth of the river. During the decade that had elapsed

since the first opening of the canal from Akron to Lake Erie, the exchange and

shipping business of Cleveland had increased enormously, amounting in 1836 to

nearly one fourth of the entire products of the State. Not only was Cleveland

the medium and beneficiary of this extensive trade with the interior; she was

also the metropolis and commercial center of the Western Reserve, a region

which, since the war of 1812, had been steadily growing in wealth and

population; the county of Cuyahoga alone—exclusive of Cleveland—numbering in

1836 upwards of fifteen thousand inhabitants. Communication with this

neighboring region was, however, very unsatisfactory, highways were poor—little

better in fact than in the early days of settlement—and the only means of

transportation were huge primitive wagons, constructed with a view to all the

exigencies of heavy loads and unfathomable mud. The opening of the canal, with

its attendant prosperity, had suggested the desirableness of improved methods

of communication between Cleveland and the adjoining towns. We accordingly

find, in 1835, the first mention of an enterprise, or series of enterprises,

which were continued, with various interruptions, till the railway system of

Northern Ohio was well under way. This pioneer venture, known as the Cleveland

& Newburg railroad, has no place in our account of industries, as it was

merely a paper enterprise and was never constructed. It is worthy of mention

only as the precursor to numerous projects, successful and otherwise, of a like

nature, and as being the occasion of an all-around discussion that did much

towards clearing up public opinion on various questions relating to commerce

and exchange.




The second railway of the

Reserve—this time a reality— was a tramway of hewed timber connecting the stone

quarries of East Cleveland with the city, its western terminus being near the

present site of the Forest City House.




The motive power was, of course,

furnished by horses, and the business of the road was confined to the hauling

of freight. The road proved an expensive venture and was soon abandoned, but

the old timbers remained an eyesore along Euclid street for some years

afterwards.




The same year another enterprise

was begun—one of more pretensions than those just described. This was the

famous Ohio railroad, of unpropitious memory. For some years the need had been

deeply felt of more trustworthy communication between Cleveland and Pittsburgh,

the thriving metropolis of Western Pennsylvania. It was urged by those who

advocated the enterprise that mil way connection between these points would

bring to the port of Cleveland a trade scarcely less important than that which

reached it by way of the canal. About this time the Hudson Bay company

purchased through Cleveland dealers, for use in their northern settlements, a

large proportion of the entire product of the State for that year. This

incident was eagerly seized upon as indicating the growing importance of

shipping interests, and the necessity of securing a wider area for supply. The

prediction was confidently made that all the exports of the newly opened west

would shortly find their outlet through the great lakes, shipped direct to

Europe from the port of Cleveland—or from that port chiefly. In this connection

it should be borne in mind that no commercial perspective, so to speak, was at

that time possible. The industry of the west was agricultural, and this

industry was confined to a limited region of lake shore and river valley lying

east of the Mississippi. The network of railways that now connects the vast and

fertile stretches of the inland States was then unknown, and the States

themselves, for the most part, unexplored; but they were rich enough in

promise, and their situation and imagined fertility seemed clearly to indicate

a great future for navigation on the lakes. The railway scheme, therefore, was

one of no small popularity—especially when the plan was modifiedby the proposal

toextend the road from the Pennsylvania line to the western boundary of Ohio,

where a terminus had been decided upon in the shape of an imaginary city, which

was named Manhattan.




The enterprise was incorporated

as the Ohio Railroad, the State being a purchaser of stock to the amount of one

hundred thousand dollars. By virtue of a clause in its charter the corporation

was empowered to issue notes on its own credit and conduct a general banking

business.




This function it proceeded to

exercise, and that in a most liberal fashion. Work was at once begun at various

points along the intended line, the company's scrip being taken in payment

without the slightest demur. As if by unconscious forecast of failure, it was

decided to dispense as far as possible with grading, substituting therefor an

extensive line of trestle-work, which, it was believed, would furnish a

sufficiently strong foundation. In 1837, in common with many a scheme whose

basis was more steadfast, the Ohio railroad was abandoned and its corporate

rights transferred to other hands.




In March, 1836, a charter was

granted by the legislature to the Cleveland, Columbus & Cincinnati

railroad. The financial crash of 1837 came on apace, and operations were

suspended for nine years. In March, 1845, the original charter was amended and

the work carried forward to a successful outcome.




At the same session of the

legislature, in March, 1836, the Cleveland, Warren & Pittsburgh road was

chartered, providing for the construction of a railroad between Cleveland and

the Pennsylvania line, where it might connect with any road already established

in that State. The act of incorporation vested in the directors discretionary

powers of the most ample sort. They might issue stock to any amount, choose

their own route, and determine what motive power should be employed. This

enterprise, with some modifications in the original plan, was revived in the

more prosperous days of the next decade and brought to a successful issue.




The hard times and panic of 1837,

which brought to ruin nearly every business establishment in the Western

Reserve, were occasioned by the financial innovations of President Jackson's

administration. In July, 1836, the secretary of the treasury issued the famous

specie circular, which directed that thenceforth all payments for public lands

should be in specie or specie certificates. In the May following, consequent

upon the influx of worthless paper from the west, the banks of New York were

compelled to suspend specie payments. The panic that followed was simply a

reaction of natural forces, the inevitable outcome of an unlimited and

unsecured paper circulation. We have seen what confusion followed on the

Western Reserve, and especially at Cleveland, the metropolis of that thriving

region. Enterprises of all sorts were palsied. City lots owned by the land

companies of Ohio City and Cleveland, which shortly before had sold for prices

enormously above their actual value, could no longer be disposed of on any

terms. It was a period of purging and of sobering, from which the city emerged

to enter upon a career of substantial prosperity.




It may be that the misfortunes of

the time, with their attendant anxieties and disappointments, tended to make

the strained relations of an unreal competition still more strained between the

rival cities at the mouth of the Cuyahoga. At all events, the autumn of 1837

saw the culmination of a long-standing feud in what is known to history as the

Battle of the Bridge.




This affair marked the

culmination of a rivalry that had first become serious two years before, the

occasion of which we have already alluded to. Mr. Clark and his associates,

upon the completion of the Columbus Street bridge, had thrown it open to the

public use, without let or hindrance and with no exaction of toll. The purpose

of these gentlemen will readily appear when account is taken of the extensive

interests possessed by them on the Cleveland side; interests which would be

enlarged in no small degree by the opening of a highway through the Hats that

should connect the city with the thriving settlements to the west and south.

Just at this point the clash was felt. The advantage for Cleveland measured the

disadvantage for Ohio City. There was here no community of interests, but a

very real and very serious antagonism. Every cartload of produce that went to

Cleveland over the new bridge was so much lost to the enterprise of the Pearl

street shop-keeper; and he felt very much too sore to make any abatement for

the rights of competition. Self-interest soon appeared in the garb of public

spirit. Meetings were held, and the high indignation mounted higher.




The bridge was declared a

nuisance, and the marshal of Ohio City was authorized by the council to abate

it without delay. The order was carried out at great expense of gun-powder, but

with small effect upon the integrity of the obnoxious structure. Nothing

disheartened, the war went on, though for a time the efforts of both parties

were confined to a vigorous expression of deep resentment through the medium of

the public press. At length a point was reached where a more tangible utterance

seemed unavoidable. The citizens of the west side were determined that the

bridge should go; the Clevelanders were equally determined that it should

remain. Preparations arranged, the belligerents assembled for the final tilt.

The Reverend Dr. Pickands, who led the west-side patriots, offered a prayer for

the triumph of justice and then conducted his forces to the attack. This

attack, unfortunately for the dignity of our narrative, was not of an heroic

type. An old field-piece, which had done good service for many years in

patriotic celebrations, was posted at the Cleveland end of the bridge, where

its grim suggestion might give due warning to the approaching enemy. The

warning was sufficient; for the attack was not maintained with much spirit, and

the contestants soon withdrew, after a crazy volley of stones and bullets—while

the bridge still stood to serve the purposes for which it had been erected.


















 




CHAPTER VI.




THE interval from the panic to

1840 was one of complete exhaustion. The city made no increase in population.

Spent energies were being recovered, but they were not yet fit for action.

There was still the trade with the interior, which no financial depression

could have checked entirely; and the neighboring townships, with their fertile

soil and industrious population, still looked to Cleveland as the center of

sale and exchange. The prevailing conditions are reflected in the local

legislation. A view is taken to the needs of a provincial community without the

old-time hankering for remote and dubious advantages. On July 7, 1837, the

council resolved to borrow fifty thousand dollars on the credit of the city,

for the erection of markets and school-houses—"to defray the expenses of

which it would not be good policy to tax the citizens."




Soon after a market was built on

Michigan street, for the management of which an elaborate set of regulations

was adopted. This same session the city engineer was directed to prepare a map

of the city, showing the division into lots, etc. A board of school managers

was organized, the first appointees being John W. Willey, Anson Haydon and

Daniel Worley. This board was empowered to appropriate a specified sum annually

for the common schools, to provide buildings and apparatus, and to secure

suitable instructors On August 7, a resolution was adopted directing the board

of school managers to purchase the Academy at the corner of St. Clair and

Academy streets. This year a petition was presented which anticipated a reform

of recent years. The petitioners prayed that the granting of licenses be

restricted, and that the sale of liquors on Sundays be entirely prohibited.

This movement, as we shall see, was followed up vigorously in succeeding years.

The year 1840 opened with a brighter outlook for the city. Not that years of

disaster had left behind them no traces in public and private indebtedness, and

in the burden of increasing taxation; but the time was one of recovery and

advance, following upon a long period of retrogression. In his opening address

to the city council, Mayor Dockstader, referring to the somewhat delicate

financial status of the city, urged the necessity of economy in public

expenditure, and advised immediate retrenchment of official salaries. Acting

under this advice, the council, in February of the following year, moved that

an amendment be secured to the city charter forbidding the payment to any city

official of a larger compensation than two hundred dollars per annum. A

suggestive incident may be mentioned in this connection—the payment from the

public treasury of upwards of four thousand dollars for expenses incurred at an

elaborate official reception. This sort of outlay is not, seemingly, of so

modern an origin as some have supposed.




We have seen that in 1837 a board

of school managers had been appointed, with general supervisory functions.




Public schools were at once

organized in the old Academy building, which had been rented for that purpose.

Two years later, July, 1839, the city purchased the building and lot for six

thousand dollars. This building, and others that had been provided, not

sufficing for immediate needs, the council determined to erect two additional

buildings at a cost of three thousand dollars, five hundred dollars each. The

new quarters were ready for occupation at the opening of the winter session of

1840. During this session nine hundred pupils were in attendance under sixteen

instructors.




The reorganized school system was

followed, in 1840, by a lyceum and debating club, supported by the young men of

the place. During the winter lectures and musical entertainments were given,

which called forth the best of local talent. Additional zest was sometimes

given by the presence of a distinguished speaker from abroad. The lectures of

that day were not such as would please a more modern audience. They were very

long—and they were very prosy. This was not the fault of the audience or of the

speaker. The speaker was intelligent and the audience was appreciative. It was

rather the misfortune—or perhaps the good fortune—of the time. Winter evenings

in the western town of forty years ago were not crowded with intellectual

variety. There may well have been an abundance of intellectual vigor, but the

matter for its exercise was limited. There was sufficient time and energy for

the thorough handling of a deep subject. The lecturers of the day were expected

to do this, and they usually did it.




The year 1841 was an eventful one

for the colored residents of the Western Reserve. This region had never been

backward in displaying substantial sympathy towards the fugitives who made it

their sanctuary and point of departure; although no steady and effectual means

of relief could often be ventured on in face of existing State and National

legislation. Ohio at that time had a Code de Noir as stringent as the most

jealous slave-owner could reasonably have demanded. Among others was a statute

which prohibited any negro or mulatto from becoming a citizen of the State

without first presenting a certificate, signed by the judge and clerk of a

circuit court, certifying that the holder was legally entitled to his freedom.

Although the public sentiment of the State—and more especially was it true of

the Western Reserve—denied the obligation of these laws, they nevertheless

served a purpose in preventing active measures for the relief of captured

fugitives. Up to 1841 it had been the custom in Cleveland to arrest fugitive

slaves upon the application of the owner, who then proceeded homeward with his

property without molestation. To the majority of law-abiding citizens their

duty of non-resistance in such cases seemed very clear; especially in view of

the desperate and treasonable methods that were coming into vogue among the

extremists of the Abolitionist party.




About this time it is probably

true that the number of calm-minded and reasonable men, capable of considering

a fugitive slave case on its merits, was lamentably small.




There seemed to be no average or

mean opinion. In a given case men ranged themselves furiously for a fugitive or

furiously against him. Public feeling was of this sort when the following

illustrative incident occurred. Three negro slaves had made their way from New

Orleans to Buffalo.




The agent of their owner, finding

serious difficulty in making good his claim at the latter place, induced them

to accompany him to Cleveland, whence it was thought they might easily be

secured and transported beyond the state boundaries. Once in Cleveland the

negroes were arrested under the law of Congress, and lodged in the county jail.

Hon. Edward Wade and Hon. John A. Foot, two Abolitionist lawyers of Cleveland,

proposed to conduct the defense, but were refused admittance to the prisoners.

At this juncture Mr. Thomas Bolton, prosecuting attorney of the county, was

asked to interfere in the interests of fair play. In his official capacity he

gained admittance to the jail, learned from the prisoners the circumstances of

their seizure, and engaged to conduct their defense. Through much opposition,

and regardless of threats that were freely made of personal violence, Mr.

Bolton persevered; succeeding after a long delay in obtaining the discharge of

his clients. Henceforth for twenty years no slave was remanded to captivity

from the courts of Cuyahoga county.




In 1845 the literary spirit of

the place found for itself a substantial expression. The Young Men's Literary

association was formed, and at once began the work of collecting a library.

Former efforts in this line, of which there had been a considerable number, had

proved unsuccessful; and even at this time fears were expressed that the

association would prove unequal to the task proposed. Happily, however, the

enterprise throve, and the collection of books rapidly increased. In 1848 the

society was incorporated under the name of the Cleveland Library association.

The stock consisted of two hundred shares of ten dollars each. The subsequent

history of this association will appear in our account of the Case Library.




Up to 1846 there was no free high

school in the State of Ohio. The movement which was in that year successfully

inaugurated at Cleveland for the establishment of a high school system is,

therefore, an event of more than local interest. The first official mention of

the plan occurs in the inaugural address of Mayor George Hoadly, in the spring

of 1846. He said: I earnestly recommend to your favorable consideration the

propriety of establishing a school of a higher grade—an academic department—the

scholars to be taken from our common schools according to merit. This would

present a powerful stimulus to study and good conduct. The poorest child, if

possessed of talents and application, might aspire to the highest stations in

the Republic. From such schools we might hope to issue the future Franklins of

our land.




On April 22, J. A. Harris,

chairman of the committee on schools, reported the following resolutions: That

a high school for boys be established; that the committee on schools be

authorized to hire suitable rooms and fit them up for the accommodation of the

school. These resolutions being adopted, a basement room was secured in the old

Prospect Street church, where the first high school began its work on the

thirteenth of July, with Mr. Andrew Freese as principal. The first year

eighty-three scholars were admitted; a class which has numbered, in its later

history, senators, governors of states, judges of the supreme court,

distinguished scientists, and men eminent in every walk of life. Never has the

event shown a more brilliant justification of the forecast than in the instance

of our first high school.


















 




CHAPTER

VII.




IT remains to trace the further

development of the railroad interests which suffered so severely in the

financial panic of 1837. In March, 1845, exactly nine years from the day of its

legal inception, the general assembly of Ohio renewed the charter of the old

Cleveland, Columbus & Cincinnati Railroad company. The new charter

permitted the company to build a road from Lake Erie to Columbus, where it

might unite with any other road that should afterwards be constructed leading

from that point to the southern boundary of the State. The board of directors

included the following gentlemen of Cleveland: John W. Allen, Richard Hilliard,

John M. Woolsey, Henry B. Payne. Mr. Allen was chosen president of the new

road. So far all was well. A liberal charter had been secured and efficient

officers appointed. The real difficulty now appeared, the difficulty of raising

funds for actual construction. After the severe schooling of the last few

years, there was little danger that the old mistakes of financial mismanagement

would be repeated. It was fortunate for the road that the city of Cleveland was

at this time induced to subscribe for stock to the amount of two hundred

thousand dollars. Much difficulty, however, was experienced in negotiating the

city's bonds; and it was not until late in 1847, after prolonged personal

effort on the part of the directors, that the amount of subscription was

brought to about seventy thousand dollars. The work of railway construction was

at once begun, under the presidency of Mr. Alfred Kelly, of Columbus. Early in

1851 the first train, bearing the Legislature of the State and executive

officials, and decked with gaudy flags and streamers, passed from Columbus to

Cleveland. "And the people did laugh to see their rulers riding on a

rail,"




as an old song humorously puts

it; but there were many among them who regarded this tremendous innovation as

something far too serious for witticism. But the legislators met with a very

pleasant reception at Cleveland.




Here is the Herald's gratulatory

offering: On Saturday, as we saw Buckeyes from the banks of the Ohio and the

rich valleys of the Miami and Scioto mingling their congratulations with those

of the Yankee Reserve, upon the completion of an improvement which served to

bring them into business and social connection and to break down the barriers

which distance, prejudice and ignorance of each other had built up, we felt

that the completion of the Cleveland, Columbus & Cincinnati railroad would

be instrumental in accomplishing a good work for Ohio, the value of which no

figures could compute. On the morning of the twenty-first the members of the

Legislature, the State officers, the councils of Cincinnati and Columbus, and

citizens of Columbus and Cincinnati, in all four hundred and twenty-eight

persons, left the capital on the C. C. & C. railroad cars, on a visit to

Cleveland as guests.




On their arrival they were

greeted by discharges of artillery and the welcome of thousands of our

citizens. The welcome was sufficiently demonstrative, and the oratory of the

occasion all that could be desired, if we may judge from the list of speakers,

among whom appear the names of Alfred Kelly, H. B. Payne, Governor Wood, and Cyrus

Prentiss.




On March 11, 1845, the

Legislature passed an act reviving the charter of the Cleveland, Warren &

Pittsburgh railroad, which had come into being during that prolific spring

session of 1836. The revised charter authorized construction from Cleveland to

the Ohio river, along that route which should prove "the most direct,

practicable and least expensive." James Stewart, of Wellsville, was

elected president of the new road, A. G. Cottell, secretary, and Cyrus

Prentiss, treasurer. By the first of November the line had been completed to

Hanover, a distance of seventy-five miles from Cleveland. The need for this

road appears in the fact that the gross earnings for 1851—rather for a part of

that year — were ninety thousand dollars. In 1849 the city of Cleveland became

a subscriber to the stock of this road in the amount of one hundred thousand

dollars.
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